
5252 

 CITY OF NORTH POLE 
Regular Meeting 

February 20, 2024 
City Hall Chambers 

125 Snowman Lane, North Pole, Alaska 
www.northpolealaska.com 

Tuesday, February 20, 2024 
Committee of the Whole: 6:30 PM 

Regular City Council Meeting: 7:00 PM 

MAYOR CITY CLERK 
Michael Welch Emily Braniff, CMC 
907-488-8584  907-488-8583 

COUNCIL MEMBERS 
Chandra Clack – Mayor Pro Tem 907-460-3767 
Anton Keller – Deputy Mayor Pro Tem 907-987-2548 
Larry Terch – Alt. Deputy Mayor Pro Tem 907-378-9233 
Jeffrey Jacobson    907-460-7733 
Benny Williams  907-388-5911 
David Skipps  907-750-5106 

1. Call to Order/Roll Call

2. Pledge of Allegiance

3. Invocation

4. Approval of Agenda

5. Approval of the Minutes from February 5th, 2024

6. Communications from the Mayor
a. Proclamation – Student of the Month Keira O’Connor
b. Proclamation – Black History Month

7. Council Members Questions of the Mayor

8. Citizens Comments (Limited to five (5) minutes per Citizen)

9. Communications from Department Heads and Borough Representative

10. Ongoing Projects Report

11. Unfinished Business
12. New Business

a. Ordinance 2024-02 an Ordinance Amending NPMC Title 2, Chapter 36, Section 050
Categories of Employees, Apprentice

b. Resolution 2024-03 Resolution Establishing the Transfer of Funds from Mt. McKinley
Bank to the City of North Pole AML Investment Pool Account

http://www.northpolealaska.com/


c. Resolution 2024-04 a Resolution to Approve the Disbursal of Attorney Fees to CSG, Inc.
RE: City V. Williams $2,102,000

d. Request to Council – Streetlight Survey and Analysis, Respec, LLC $25,360.00
e. Recommendation to Council – City Water Main Design Award – Respec, LLC

13. Council Comments
14. Adjournment



Regular City Council Meeting 
February 5, 2024 

7:00 p.m. 

Minutes 
February 5, 2024 

NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 

Mr. Hu 

Committee of the Whole – 6:30 P.M. 
  Regular City Council Meeting – 7:00 P.M. 

A regular meeting of the North Pole City Council was held on Monday, February 5, 2024, in the North Pole City 
Hall Council Chambers. 

CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL 
Mayor Pro Tem Clack called the regular City Council meeting of Monday, February 5, 2024, to order at 
7:00 p.m. 

Present: 
Chandra Clack – Mayor Pro Tem 
Larry Terch – Alt. Deputy Mayor Pro Tem 

Benny Williams  
David Skipps 

Absent: 
Mayor Welch 
Anton Keller – Deputy Mayor Pro Tem 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE U.S. FLAG 
Led by Mayor Pro Tem Clack 

INVOCATION  
Given by Mr. Williams 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA  
Mr. Jacobson moved to approve the agenda of February 5th, 2024 

Seconded by Mr. Terch 

Mr. Jacobson moved to amend the agenda to allow citizen comments on Ordinance 2023-17 under Citizens 
Comments 

Seconded by Mr. Williams 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
a. Ordinance 2023-17, An Ordinance of the City of North Pole, to Amend Title 10, Unsafe and Hazardous

Vehicles and Title 1, Minor Offense Fee Schedule (Ordinance 2023-17 was postponed from the Regular 
City Council meeting of November 20, 2023) 

Jeffrey Jacobson  



Regular City Council Meeting 
February 5, 2024 

7:00 p.m. 

Minutes 
February 5, 2024 

NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 

b. Ordinance 2024-01, an Ordinance to Accept Board of Adjustment Duties from the Fairbanks North Star
Borough to Hear and Decide Appeals of Certain Land use Decisions for Land Located Within the City of
North Pole

NEW BUSINESS 
a. Memo – Appointment to FNSB Planning Commission, Greg Corbett
b. Request to Council – Purchase Two (2) 2024 Dodge Durango Police Vehicles $94,142.50
c. Request to Council – Water Meter Purchase $242,598.31 American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) Funds
d. Request to Council – Lead Line Survey - Respec $48,000
e. Request to Council – Rebuilding American Infrastructure with Sustainability and Equity (RAISE) Grant

Application -Two Bears Environmental Consulting $6,300

On the Agenda 
DISCUSSION 
None 
PASSED 
Yes: Clack, Terch, Jacobson, Skipps, Williams 
No: 0 
Absent: Welch, Keller 

On the Agenda, as Amended 
DISCUSSION 
None 
PASSED 
Yes: Williams, Terch, Clack, Jacobson, Skipps 
No: 0 
Absent: Welch, Keller 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
Mayor Pro Tem Clack moved to approve the minutes from the January 16th, 2024, meeting. 

Seconded by Mr. Skipps 

On the Minutes 
DISCUSSION 
None 
PASSED 
Yes: Skipps, Terch, Jacobson, Clack, Williams 
No: 0 
Absent: Welch, Keller 

COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE MAYOR 
a. Employee Recognition – 25 Years of Service Paul Trissel



Regular City Council Meeting 
February 5, 2024 

7:00 p.m. 

Minutes 
February 5, 2024 

NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 

Mayor Pro Tem Clack asked Danny Wallace City Services Director to come forward to award Paul Trissel, Utilities 
Supervisor, a 25-year plaque.  Mr. Wallace spoke about Mr. Trissel’s 25-year history working with the City of North 
Pole. The Council and the chambers recognized Mr. Trissel’s accomplishments with a standing ovation.  

COUNCIL MEMBER QUESTIONS OF THE MAYOR 

CITIZENS COMMENTS – (Limited to Five (5) minutes per Citizen) 

Rita Trometer spoke against the traffic hazard ordinance. 

Barbara Haney spoke against Ordinance 2023-17 and wished Mayor Welch well. Ms. Haney thanked the Council 
for including a prayer at the Council meeting.  

Tammy Wilson shared her disappointment that there was no work session to discuss the ordinance and asked if 
there is another ordinance of its kind if they could hold a town hall to include community input.  

Chief Dutra reported he has asked the Council to fail the ordinance and spoke to some of the statistics that back 
up his recommendation. Chief Dutra thanked everyone for coming out to share their thoughts about the 
ordinance.  

Rich Ide shared that he has lived in North Pole since 1983 and that the traffic hazard ordinance seems 
unnecessary, and it gives him a dark cloud feeling.   

COMMUNICATIONS FROM DEPARTMENT HEADS, BOROUGH REPRESENTATIVE 

Finance, Tricia Fogarty 
Ms. Fogarty shared all the January sales tax payments have come in and they are working to close out the month. 
Ms. Fogarty reported they have met with the auditor, Elgee Rehfeld for their first meeting and it seems to be 
going very well.  

Fire Department, Assistant Chief Tod Chambers 
AC Chambers reported Chief Heineken is in Juneau at the Fire Chief’s Leadership Association. He shared the 
trainings the department has been involved in. AC Chambers stated the apprenticeship program at the Fire 
Department is getting a wonderful number of inquiries and one actual application already.  

Public Works/City Utility, Danny Wallace  
Mr. Wallace reported Moose Creek water expansion will officially end on March 31, 2024. Mr. Wallace stated the 
system still has a year’s warranty and that there are a few minor items that need to be taken care of, but he will 
stay on top of it.   
Mr. Wallace shared that there is a fire alarm system issue in City Hall, he shared the system is over 30 years old 
and may need to be revamped. Mr. Wallace stated he is working on camera access in City Hall for some of the 
employees in the fishbowl.  
Mr. Wallace reported there is a request for bid being advertised for a skid steer with a deadline of February 14th 
and he would have a recommendation for Council at the next regular meeting.  
Mr. Wallace shared he is working with Human Resources Administrator/Deputy Clerk Maggie Kimmel to start 



Regular City Council Meeting 
February 5, 2024 

7:00 p.m. 

Minutes 
February 5, 2024 

NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 

advertising for a position opening in Public Works. 
Mr. Wallace reported the Building Department continues to see applications for permits and that he expects that 
they will increase as the summer months approach.  
Mr. Wallace stated there are no serious issues to report for Utilities, but they are continuing work on the Water 
Main Design package and that he should have a recommendation at the next Council meeting.  
Mr. Wallace reported the vehicle that was sold at auction brought in $9,200.  
Mr. Jacobson shared that the fire alarm had an old phone system at the City of Fairbanks had an issue, it was 
running on a seven-digit phone number, and it was fixed when they updated it to a 10-digit number. Mr. Wallace 
said he would investigate it.  

Police Department, Chief Dutra  
Chief Dutra shared he has two supervisors at training in Soldotna and that his department is working on the 2024 
Grant Cycle. Chief Dutra shared he is close to hiring the last open position in his department and that he was 
thankful to the Council for valuing the employees of his department. He shared departments across the country 
are suffering and he is at full staff in part to how much the Council helped with pay the prior year.  

City Clerk, Emily Braniff 
Ms. Braniff thanked everyone for coming to the Council meeting and referred to the video monitor to show the 
chambers more about the city’s website. Ms. Braniff shared that agendas are required by Code to be posted on 
the website Thursday before the Monday Regular Council meeting. Ms. Braniff reported Council meetings are 
always the first and third Monday of the month and navigated on the video monitor for the guests in Chambers 
as to where they can find agenda packets and other city business on the website. Ms. Braniff shared the required 
code training for staff and Council is at 73% compliance and that there are three job openings available on the 
website.  

Borough Representative 
Mayor Pro Tem Clack asked Ms. Haney to give a Borough report, Ms. Haney updated the Council of the items on 
the Fairbanks North Star Borough School Districts agenda.  Ms. Haney shared information about the Fairbanks 
North Star Borough’s special election because of the School District’s deficit.  

ON GOING PROJECTS 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
• Ordinance 2023-17, An Ordinance of the City of North Pole, to Amend Title 10, Unsafe and Hazardous

Vehicles and Title 1, Minor Offense Fee Schedule (Ordinance 2023-17 was postponed from the Regular
City Council meeting of November 20, 2023)

Mr. Jacobson moved to Adopt Ordinance 2023-17 

Seconded by Mr. Williams 
On the Ordinance 



Regular City Council Meeting 
February 5, 2024 

7:00 p.m. 

Minutes 
February 5, 2024 

NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 

DISCUSSION 
None 
PASSED 
Yes: 0 
No: Clack, Terch, Skipps, Jacobson, Williams 
Absent: Welch, Keller 

• Ordinance 2024-01, an Ordinance to Accept Board of Adjustment Duties from the Fairbanks North Star
Borough to Hear and Decide Appeals of Certain Land use Decisions for Land Located Within the City of
North Pole

Mr. Jacobson moved to Adopt Ordinance 2024-01 

Seconded by Mr. Williams 

On the Ordinance 
DISCUSSION 
None 
PASSED 
Yes: Jacobson, Skipps, Williams, Terch, Clack 
No: 0 
Absent: Welch, Keller 

NEW BUSINESS 
• Memo – Appointment to FNSB Planning Commission, Greg Corbett

Mr. Terch moved to Approve the Memo - Appointment to the FNSB Planning Commission, Greg Corbett 

On the Memo 
DISCUSSION 
None 
PASSED 
Yes: Clack, Terch, Skipps, Jacobson, Williams 
No: 0 
Absent: Welch, Keller  

• Request to Council – Purchase Two (2) 2024 Dodge Durango Police Vehicles $94,142.50

Mr. Jacobson moved to Approve the Request to Council – Purchase Two (2) 2024 Dodge Durango Police Vehicles 
$94,142.50 

• Request to Council – Water Meter Purchase $242,598.31 American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) Funds
On the Memo 
DISCUSSION 



Regular City Council Meeting 
February 5, 2024 

7:00 p.m. 

Minutes 
February 5, 2024 

NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 

None 
PASSED 
Yes: Clack, Terch, Skipps, Williams, Jacobson 
No: 0 
Absent: Welch, Keller 

Mr. Skipps moved to Approve the Request to Council – Water Meter Purchase $242,598.31 American Rescue Plan 
Act (ARPA) Funds 

Seconded by Mr. Jacobson 

On the Memo 
DISCUSSION 
None 
PASSED 
Yes: Skipps, Clack, Terch, Williams, Jacobson 
No: 0 
Absent: Welch, Keller 

• Request to Council – Lead Line Survey - Respec $48,000

Mr. Jacobson moved to Approve the Request to Council – Lead Line Survey 

Seconded by Mr. Williams 

On the Memo 
DISCUSSION 
None 
PASSED 
Yes: Williams, Terch, Skipps, Clack, Jacobson 
No: 0 
Absent: Welch, Keller 

• Request to Council – Rebuilding American Infrastructure with Sustainability and Equity (RAISE) Grant
Application -Two Bears Environmental Consulting $6,300

Mr. Williams moved to Approve the Request to Council – Rebuilding American Infrastructure with Sustainability 
and Equity (RAISE) Grant Application -Two Bears Environmental Consulting $6,300 

Seconded by Mr. Skipps 

On the Memo 
DISCUSSION 
None 
PASSED 



Regular City Council Meeting 
February 5, 2024 

7:00 p.m. 

Minutes 
February 5, 2024 

NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 

Yes: Skipps, Clack, Williams, Jacobson 
No: Terch  
Absent: Welch, Keller 

COUNCIL COMMENTS 
Mr. Skipps thanked God for the nicer weather because it is easing up on his pocketbook, he asked everyone to 
drive safe.  

Mr. Jacobson asked Ms. Braniff to forward to Council and Staff the email link to the Legislative Sessions that will 
be held during the week in Juneau.  Mr. Jacobson reported the Grange Gallery is having a showing and a wine 
tasting and encouraged everyone to check it out if they have not already.  Mr. Jacobson shared that he, Mr. 
Wallace, and Mayor Pro Tem Clack had met with the 2016 strategic planning committee, and they would be 
speaking with Council and community members going forward. Mr. Jacobson shared a handout with the Council 
and Clerk the 2010 North Pole Land Use Plan.  Mr. Jacobson reminded everyone that it is Black History Month 
and asked for a Proclamation to be made at the second February meeting honoring it.   

Mr. Williams shared he had some car problems and asked everyone to do research when a dealer tries to tell 
them how much it will cost, it saved him some money.  Mr. Williams shared he will be attending the Fairbanks 
North Star Borough Assembly meeting, Mayor Pro Tem Clack asked that he let the Borough know that North Pole 
had approved the land use ordinance and that they approved the FNSB Planning Commission appointee, which 
has been vacant for six years.  

Mr. Terch thanked Mr. Trissel for his service to the City of North Pole and shared that he does so much more in 
his job than anyone really realizes. Mr. Terch thanked everyone for coming out to testify and to share their 
opinions he stated that collaborating with the citizens is his favorite part of his job.  

Mayor Pro Tem Clack thanked the Lord for everyone showing up for testimony and asked that the Lord touches 
Mayor Welch for healing.  Mayor Pro Tem Clack asked everyone to drive safely and thanked staff of the city for 
the work they do and the Council for their service.  



Regular City Council Meeting 
February 5, 2024 

7:00 p.m. 

Minutes 
February 5, 2024 

NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 

ADJOURNMENT 

Mr. Skipps moved to adjourn. 

Seconded by Mr. Jacobson 

The regular meeting of Monday, February 5, 2024, adjourned at 8:15 p.m. 
These minutes passed and approved by a duly constituted quorum of the North Pole City Council on Tuesday, 
February 20, 2024.   

_______________________________________ 
Mayor Pro Tem Clack 

ATTEST: 

___________________________________ 
Emily Braniff, CMC 
City Clerk 







Sponsored by: Mayor Pro Tem Chandra Clack 1 
Introduced: February 20, 2024 2 

3 
4 

ORDINANCE NO. 2024-02 5 
6 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NORTH POLE AMENDING 7 

MUNICIPAL CODE TITLE 2 CHAPTER 36 SECTION 050 CATEGORIES OF 8 

EMPLOYEES 9 

10 
WHEREAS, changes to the North Pole Municipal Code are a continually changing requirement;11 
and12 

13 
WHEREAS, the City of North Pole wishes to remain up to date with its protections for its14 
employees and Council; and15 

16 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of North Pole:17 

18 
Section 1. This ordinance is of a general and permanent nature and shall be codified.19 

20 
Section 2. Title 2: Administration and Personnel, Division 1: Administration, Chapter 2: City21 
Council, Section 36.050 Categories of employees are hereby amended in the North Pole Code of22 
Ordinances as follows: [new text in red, deleted text in strikethrough] see attached.23 

2.36.050 Categories of employees.24 
A.    The following categories are utilized in the context of City employment:25 

1. Full-Time. This position is included as a part of the annual operating budget and is to26 
be considered part of the regular staffing of the City. 27 

a. Exempt. Those employees who meet the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA)28 
requirements for exemption from the Act, who work the hours necessary to 29 
accomplish the job and are considered salaried employees. 30 

b. Nonexempt. Those employees who are subject to the recordkeeping requirements31 
of the FLSA and are considered hourly employees. 32 



 

PASSED/FAILED 
Yes:  
No:  
Absent:  
 

2.    Term – Full-Time. Position funded for more than six months, but less than two years, 33 
with a projected termination date which may be adjusted according to funding limitations 34 
or completion of the work. Employees hired to fill such vacancies shall enjoy all benefits of 35 
the full-time category, with the exception of employment protection beyond the life of the 36 
designated project(s). 37 

3.    Temporary. Positions deemed to be temporary will not exceed one thousand forty 38 
hours in one calendar year period. 39 

4.    Casual/Part-Time. These are positions with a workweek of less than forty hours. 40 

5.    Volunteer Fire Department Personnel. Employees in this class receive no monetary 41 
compensation for duties performed. These personnel are subject to the City drug policy 42 
and disciplinary procedures, must follow the grievance procedures, and are eligible for 43 
training and tuition reimbursements. They are not eligible for leave with pay, retirement, 44 
or medical, hospitalization, life and accident insurance benefits extended to full-time 45 
employees. Should a volunteer be hired as a full-time employee, the date of hire will be the 46 
date that employee begins full-time employment. 47 

6. Apprentice. Employees in this category are performing on the job training to gain 48 
experience, education and certifications necessary to qualify for career positions within a 49 
specific career field. Position may be full-time or part-time for a term no longer than 24 50 
months. Apprentice employees are not eligible for leave with pay, retirement or medical, 51 
hospitalization, life and accident insurance benefits extended to permanent full-time 52 
employees.   53 

 54 
Section 3. Effective Date. This ordinance shall become effective upon signing.  55 
 56 
ADOPTED THE ____ DAY OF . 57 
  58 
 59 

________________________________ 60 
Mayor Pro Tem Chandra Clack  61 

   62 
ATTEST:      63 
 64 
_______________________________ 65 
Emily Braniff, CMC 66 
City Clerk   67 



Sponsored by: Mayor Pro Tem Clack 
Introduced and Adopted: February 20, 2024 

CITY OF NORTH POLE 1 

RESOLUTION 2024-03 2 

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING A TRANSFER OF FUNDS FROM MT. MCKINLEY BANK 3 
TO THE CITY OF NORTH POLE AML INVESTMENT POOL FIRE DEPARTMENT FLEET 4 

ACCOUNT 5 

WHEREAS, The purpose of the transfer is to earn an competitive rate of return on our account balances.  6 
and  7 

WHEREAS, the City Council had introduced and approved Ordinance 08-10 An Ordinance of The City 8 
of North Pole Authorizing Participation In The Alaska Municipal League Investment Pool, Inc. For Use 9 
by Cities and Boroughs; and  10 

WHEREAS, authorizing the City of North Pole to set up subaccounts to invest general funds, fleet funds, 11 
Misc. Funds; and 12 

WHEREAS, the interest earned will be returned to investment earned accounts of the fund the 13 
investment originated from; and  14 

WHEREAS, the interest rate earned at AML Investment pool on our general account for the month of 15 
February 12, 2024 was 5.36 percent; and 16 

WHEREAS, the rate of returned earned at Mt. McKinley Bank in January 2024 is 1.51 percent; and 17 

WHEREAS, the following amounts are to be transferred to the City of North Pole’s AML Investment 18 
Pool accounts.    19 

Fire Department Fleet Fund $500,000.00 20 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the Council of the City of North Pole that it approves the 21 
funds to be transferred to The Alaska Municipal League Investment Pool, Inc. 22 

PASSED AND APPROVED by a duly constituted quorum of the North Pole City Council this 20th 23 
February 2024. 24 

25 

______________________________________ 26 

Mayor Pro Tem Chandra Clack 27 

ATTEST: 28 
29 

___________________________________ 30 
Emily Braniff, CMC  31 
City Clerk 32 

33 
PASSED/FAILED 
Yes:  
No:  
Absent:  



Sponsored by: Mayor Pro Tem Chandra Clack 
Introduced: February 20, 2024 

CITY OF NORTH POLE 1 

RESOLUTION 2024-04 2 

A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE THE DISBURSEAL OF ATTORNEY FEES TO CSG, INC. RE: CITY OF NORTH 3 
POLE V. WILLIAMS 4 

WHEREAS, the City of North Pole retained the law firm of CSG, Inc. (formerly known as Cook 5 
Schuhmann and Groseclose, Inc.), on a contingent fee, as its counsel for sulfolane related litigation 6 
against The Williams Companies, Inc., Williams Alaska Petroleum, Inc., and other parties (the Litigation). 7 

WHEREAS, CSG, Inc. has satisfactorily concluded the Litigation and has fully earned its contingent fee (as 8 
reduced from the original contingent fee contract) in the amount of $2,600,000 based on the funds 9 
distributed to the City of North Pole to date.  10 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the City of North Pole shall promptly pay CSG, Inc. the balance of 11 
the contingent fee earned by CSG, Inc. in the amount of $2,102,000.00 and held by the City of North Pole 12 
pending the conclusion of the Litigation and the fee being fully earned. 13 

PASSED AND APPROVED by a duly constituted quorum of the North Pole City Council this 20th day 14 
of February 2024. 15 

16 

_____________________________________ 17 

Mayor Pro Tem Clack  18 
19 

 20 

ATTEST: 21 
22 

___________________________________ 23 
Emily Braniff, CMC  24 

City Clerk 25 

PASSED 
Yes: 
No: 
Absent: 











1

SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

This Settlement Agreement ("Agreement"), entered into by and between The

City of North Pole (“CNP”), The State of Alaska (“SOA”) and Flint Hills Resources Alaska,

LLC (“FHRA”) (CNP, SOA and FHRA are herein collectively referred to as the “Parties”)

memorializes certain understandings reached among the Parties with respect to their

obligations to each other in connection with matters related to the Environmental

Matters (as defined herein) including the groundwater contaminated with sulfolane at,

around and migrating from the North Pole Refinery (“NPR”), the City of North Pole and

the Fairbanks North Star Borough resulting primarily from spills and releases by the

prior owner of the NPR, Williams Alaska Petroleum, Inc. (“WAPI”) (the sulfolane

groundwater contamination shall be referred to as the “Sulfolane Plume”) and certain

short- and long-term remedial measures designed to address the Sulfolane Plume.

WHEREAS, FHRA is the current owner of the NPR located in the City of North

Pole, Alaska (the “North Pole Refinery”); and

WHEREAS, SOA, through the Alaska Department of Natural Resources

(“SOA/DNR”), is a former owner and lessor of the real property underlying the NPR and

SOA, and through the Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation (“SOA/DEC”),

has, and continues to have, regulatory and enforcement jurisdiction over the NPR with

respect to Environmental Matters including but not limited to the Sulfolane Plume; and

WHEREAS, CNP has been impacted by the Sulfolane Plume in that sulfolane is in

the groundwater underlying the City; and

WHEREAS, WAPI owned and operated the NPR from its initial construction in the

1970’s until its sale to FHRA on April 1, 2004. WAPI commenced the use of sulfolane in

the refining process in approximately 1985. During WAPI’s ownership and operation of

the NPR WAPI spilled and otherwise released sulfolane to the soil and to the

groundwater underlying the NPR; and

WHEREAS, on April 1, 2004, FHRA purchased the NPR from WAPI and The

Williams Companies, Inc. (“TWC”) pursuant to the terms and conditions of an “Asset

Purchase and Sale Agreement” (“ASPA”), dated November 17, 2003, and related

agreements. TWC was and is a parent corporation of WAPI and executed a Parental

Guaranty to, among other things, guaranty WAPI’s performance under the ASPA (WAPI

and TWC shall be referred to throughout as “Williams”). Pursuant to the ASPA, FHRA

agreed to assume responsibility for known, disclosed groundwater contamination on

the NPR premises. Williams retained liability for any unknown or undisclosed



2

groundwater contamination as well as any groundwater contamination that had

migrated off the NPR premises; and

WHEREAS, in 2009, FHRA became aware that sulfolane from the NPR was

detected in private drinking water wells off of the NPR premises; and

WHEREAS, from 2009 to present, FHRA has been cooperating with the SOA/DEC

and CNP to investigate and respond to the onsite contaminants of concern and the

Sulfolane Plume. This includes, but is not limited to, monitoring and characterizing the

Sulfolane Plume, preparing site characterization studies, communicating directly with

impacted landowners, and providing alternative drinking water to impacted

landowners; and

WHEREAS, FHRA submitted and SOA/DEC approved an Onsite Cleanup Plan to

address and conduct short- and long-term remedial activities on the refinery premises,

including, the monitoring, groundwater treatment and recovery and disposal of

sulfolane contaminated media; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Alaska law, Williams, FHRA and SOA/DNR are potentially

responsible parties and, potentially liable for some allocable share of costs and damages

incurred as a result of the Sulfolane Plume. The SOA/DEC has directed Williams, as a

potentially responsible party, to undertake response actions to address the Sulfolane

Plume, but to date Williams has refused to materially participate or comply with the

SOA/DEC requests and directives; and

WHEREAS, lawsuits are currently pending involving claims by and between FHRA,

Williams, SOA and CNP to determine responsibility, damages and the allocation of

future costs relating to Environmental Matters including the Sulfolane Plume. Those

cases are all pending in the Superior Court for the State of Alaska, Fourth Judicial District

at Fairbanks and are styled: Flint Hills Resources Alaska, LLC Williams Alaska Petroleum,

Inc. and The Williams Companies, Inc., Case No. 4FA-10-1123 CI and State of Alaska,

Attorney General’s Office v Williams Alaska Petroleum, Inc., et al and City of North Pole v

Williams Alaska Petroleum, Inc., et al, Case No. 4FA-14-01544 CI Consolidated (the

“Lawsuits”); and

WHEREAS, FHRA, SOA and CNP have each evaluated and analyzed the Sulfolane

Plume and independently conclude that Williams is the responsible party that is

primarily responsible for the release of sulfolane into the groundwater based upon,

among other things, historic spill records, historic contemporaneous records of

Williams’ on-site activities, evaluation and comparison of refinery environmental and

operational processes and procedures, extensive sampling and analysis for sulfolane in



3

on-and off-site groundwater, and extensive modeling of the fate-and-transport of

sulfolane in groundwater; and

WHEREAS, based upon the extensive studies undertaken by FHRA and SOA/DEC

of sulfolane in the groundwater at the NPR and offsite, SOA and CNP have determined,

as set forth in the attached Offsite Potable Water Plan, that the most appropriate

measure to address the impact of the Sulfolane Plume on drinking water is a piped

public water system; and

WHEREAS, FHRA, SOA and CNP have engaged in settlement discussions with

Williams in an attempt to resolve the lawsuits, but Williams has refused to accept an

allocable percentage of a planned piped water system; accordingly, those discussions

have failed; and

WHEREAS, FHRA, SOA and CNP mutually wish to resolve the issues between

them and proceed with ultimate implementation of the Offsite Potable Water Plan

while recognizing the need to secure an equitable share of the past and future costs of

both on- and off-site response activities by proceeding to pursue and enforce all claims

against Williams; and

WHEREAS, SOA and FHRA have agreed to fund, on an interim basis, costs

associated with the Offsite Potable Water Plan with the shared understanding that the

Parties to this settlement will seek any and all relief to ensure Williams is held liable for

the construction of the planned piped water system, either in whole or an allocable

share, and that Williams will be held to pay its fair share of those costs to vendors

responsible for the work activity; and

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, and with intent to be

legally bound hereby, the Parties mutually agree as follows:

1. Definitions.

“Environmental Matters” as used in this Settlement Agreement shall mean

Contaminants of Concern (as set out in the 2017 Revised Onsite Cleanup Plan) that are

located onsite at the NPR and on and off site in the Sulfolane Plume.

“Operations Fund” as used in this Settlement Agreement shall be as defined in

paragraph 4 of this Settlement Agreement.

“Project” as used in this Settlement Agreement is the work to design and construct the

piped water distribution system as set out in the Offsite Potable Water Plan. The Parties

shall use their best efforts to commence construction at the beginning of the 2018

construction season.



4

“Project Area” as used in this Settlement Agreement shall mean areas impacted by the

Sulfolane Plume, which are in part within the CNP city limits and part outside the CNP

city limits as well as to the following additional subdivisions, as those subdivisions are

currently configured and populated: Garden, Riddle Estates, Poodle, Pine Stream,

Steelhead and Sorores (such area, subject to changes as detailed below, is referred to

herein as the “Project Area”). Attached as Exhibit A are preliminary maps of the

proposed Project and Project Area, subject to change as detailed herein.

“Project Costs” as used in this Settlement Agreement shall mean costs associated with

the Project, in particular:

 The design and construction of a piped water distribution system that extends

the existing CNP public drinking water utility system to 656 discrete parcels, as

defined by the Stantec Report (as defined herein), and includes CNP public

drinking water utility system improvements necessary to support the additional

water system and connections;

 The provision of service lines necessary to connect the 656 individual residences

or businesses on discrete parcels to the expanded distribution system to fully

place them in service. The service line cost is presented in the Stantec Report as

the average cost to connect the 656 homes to the newly constructed piped

water distribution system;

 The transitioning of homes on alternative water systems (AWS), currently

provided by FHRA, to the planned public water system contemplated under this

Settlement Agreement. The Parties agree that FHRA shall take the lead in

negotiating the transition with the impacted homeowners.

 Internal Costs as defined in paragraph 4 of this Settlement Agreement.

 A One Million ($1,000,000) Dollar operations fund for the CNP to fund initial

operations and maintenance of the planned piped water system.

“Stantec Report” as used in this Settlement Agreement shall mean the report prepared

by Stantec Consulting Services, Inc., dated December 8, 2016, entitled “North Pole

Water Distribution System Preliminary Design.”

2. Effective Date and Approvals.

This Agreement shall become effective on the date last signed by all the Parties.

The Parties shall seek Judicial Approval (as defined in subparagraph 10 (f) below);

DEC shall hold a public meeting to explain and discuss the Offsite Potable Water

Plan and the Final Revised Onsite Cleanup Plan (“ROCP”) and address any



5

concerns of the public; and the CNP shall seek the required certificate of public

necessity for the CNP to construct, own and operate the planned piped water

system referenced in this Settlement Agreement from the Regulatory Authority

of Alaska.

3. Payment to the City of North Pole.

Within 20 days of the date of execution of this Agreement, FHRA shall pay to

CNP Two Million Seven Hundred Thousand ($2,700,000.00) Dollars as partial

consideration for the settlement herein and shall deposit this payment into the

trust account of C S & G, Inc. (“CSG”). CSG shall retain, and not disburse, those

settlement funds until the conditions relating to public notice and certificate of

public necessity, set forth in paragraph 2, have occurred. These funds may be

used by the CNP to pay past and future litigation expenses incurred in this

litigation, to include attorney’s fees.

4. Piped Water Distribution System.

CNP shall undertake to contract, in coordination with SOA and FHRA, with

qualified third parties for the engineering, procurement and construction of a

piped water system consistent with the Stantec Report, subject to change as

contemplated by the parties under this Settlement Agreement and the Stantec

Report. Both FHRA and SOA shall have consultation and approval rights with

respect to selection of the contractor(s) and the execution of the engineering,

procurement and construction of the Project. As used herein, the term “Internal

Costs” means all reasonable and necessary internal and external costs (including,

but not limited to, agreed-upon hourly charges for time worked by employees,

but not including payments to the engineering/procurement/construction

contractor[s] for the Project) incurred by CNP, SOA and/or FHRA at the joint

request of the Parties (and as evidenced by reasonable documentation) in the

execution of the Project. Internal Costs shall be reimbursable as Project Costs in

the same manner as other Project Costs as detailed herein. To the extent the

Parties agree that FHRA will directly contract with Stantec for certain initial

engineering work for the Project, the costs for such work shall be reimbursable

as Project Costs in the same manner as other Project Costs as detailed herein.

The Parties agree that the Project Costs, in total, shall not exceed One Hundred

Million ($100,000,000) Dollars. In the event that at any time prior to completion

of the Project, the reasonably-estimated and actual Project Costs, in total,

exceed this amount, then the Parties agree to reevaluate the Project Costs,

including plans and specifications, and modify the Project in such a manner so as



6

to reduce the Project Costs to an amount equal to or below One Hundred Million

($100,000,000) Dollars. Such modifications may include, but are not limited to, a

reconfiguration of the Project Area. In the event the modifications include a

reconfiguration of the Project Area, in no event shall the reconfiguration change

or modify the geographic coverage of the area within the CNP city limits.

Included in the Project Costs is an Operations Fund of One Million ($1,000,000)

Dollars designated for the CNP to fund the initial operation and maintenance of

the finished pipeline system (“Operations Fund”). CNP agrees that once the

Operations Fund is depleted the CNP shall, at its own cost, operate and maintain

the pipeline system. Also included in the Project and Project Costs shall be costs

associated with transitioning landowners currently on alternative water systems

to the piped water system.

The CNP shall use best efforts to apply for and obtain any and all available State

or Federal funding (including but not limited to grants or loans which may be

forgiven under the applicable program, but excluding grants or loans that would

have to be repaid by the CNP) for the Project.

In the event that the Sulfolane Plume migrates beyond the Project Area (as

finally determined as detailed herein), and if the sulfolane level in a private

drinking water well outside the Project Area exceeds EPA’s sulfolane tap water

Regional Screening Level (“RSL”) (currently 20 ppb), the Parties agree that

impacted landowners shall be provided an alternative water solution of, either

bottled water, a treatment system or bulk tank water, the determination of

which alternative shall be at the sole option and decision of FHRA. The RSL shall

be the relevant standard until such time as DEC establishes a groundwater level

for sulfolane under its regulations. The costs associated with any alternative

water solution shall be funded according to the Interim Funding discussed

below.

5. Interim Funding

a. Interim Allocation

(i) The Parties’ have independently determined that the primary

responsibility for the Sulfolane Plume lies with Williams.

However, notwithstanding Williams’ lack of cooperation and its

refusal to fund or assist in efforts to address the impact of the

Sulfolane Plume, the Parties hereto plan to move forward with

the Project.



7

(ii) FHRA and SOA shall provide interim funding for the Project based

upon an interim allocation of FHRA – 80%; SOA – 20% (“Interim

Allocation”). Both FHRA and SOA expressly deny this Interim

Allocation is an appropriate apportionment of responsibility or an

equitable allocation of past and future costs and damages, but in

the interest of settlement only, have agreed to this Interim

Allocation pending a later judicial determination which may

apportion and/or allocate past and future responsibility and

damages. The aforementioned judicial determination shall

replace the interim funding allocation when the judgment, if any,

is collected from, or enforced against, Williams, whichever occurs

first. In the event that the aforementioned judicial determination

results in an ultimate allocation of more than the Interim

Allocation of 80% to FHRA or 20% responsibility to SOA, or 0% to

CNP, the Parties agree that the funding for the Project shall be

capped at the Interim Allocation amount of 80% for FHRA, 20%

for SOA and 0% for CNP, with the effect of any excess allocation

being apportioned to the other party (FHRA or SOA as the case

may be, but not including CNP).

b. Interim Allocation and Funding.

(i) The design and construction of the Project shall be under contract

with a qualified contractor(s). Such contract or contracts shall

provide for monthly progress payments during the course of the

Project.

(ii) The Parties agree as follows regarding interim funding as needed

for the design and construction of the Project. The Parties will

enter into an escrow account agreement with a mutually agreed-

upon Alaska bank into which FHRA and SOA shall deposit interim

funding based upon the Interim Allocation to coincide with the

monthly progress payments to the Project contractor(s) and the

applicable Internal Costs incurred by the Parties (“Interim

Funding”). Funds in escrow will in turn be used to pay the

reasonable and approved engineering, procurement and

construction costs as periodically invoiced by the contractor(s),

and the Internal Costs as periodically invoiced by the Parties.



8

(iii) The initial funding of the escrow account shall be via the SOA

depositing Six Hundred and Seventy Five Thousand ($675,000)

Dollars to the escrow account, eighty (80%) percent of which

($540,000), represents an amount equal to twenty (20%) percent

of the settlement payment to the CNP as contemplated under

paragraph 3 of this Settlement Agreement. Thereafter, the

Interim Funding deposits to the escrow account (over and above

such initial $675,000 deposit by the SOA) shall be based upon the

Interim Allocation percentages stated above.

(iv) Subject to Section 5 (a) (ii), upon a judicial determination of

liability against Williams, allocating responsibility for all or part of

the Sulfolane Plume the judicially determined apportionment or

allocation percentages shall replace the Interim Allocation as a

percentage of responsibility for the funding of the Project. Both

the CNP and SOA shall take all steps necessary to fully enforce any

judicial determination against Williams. Williams’ responsibility

will then be primary to any funding obligations for the Project if

any, applicable to FHRA, the SOA and/or CNP (CNP’s funding

obligations being with respect to any State or Federal grant or

loan funding). The purpose and intent amongst the Parties is to

hold Williams liable for its fair share of the costs and expenses of

the Project and to require Williams to directly fund its

proportionate share of the Project while also ensuring that the

Project continues uninterrupted without regard to the

uncertainties of litigation. Notwithstanding any other provision in

this Settlement Agreement, in the event that a judicial

determination is made that there is joint and several liability

amongst the potential responsible parties, the SOA and CNP

expressly agree to only enforce and seek recovery of 100% of any

such determination including, but not limited to, any and all costs

and expenses, from Williams.

(v) The SOA portion of the Interim Funding shall be subject to

legislative appropriation. To the extent FHRA advances any funds

towards the Project to cover any portion of SOA’s obligations

under this Settlement Agreement, the SOA shall reimburse all

such amounts which will bear interest at the applicable State of

Alaska statutory rate. In the event the SOA is unable to obtain



9

legislative appropriation sufficient to satisfy all or part of the

SOA’s obligations herein, FHRA shall have the right, but not the

obligation, to terminate this Agreement.

6. Claims Against Williams and Allocation of Proceeds, Release and Contribution

Protection

The Parties have claims against Williams currently pending in the Superior Court

for the State of Alaska Fourth Judicial District at Fairbanks (presently claims by

CNP and SOA are limited to WAPI). CNP and SOA also have certain regulatory

powers to order and to obligate potential responsible parties to take action to

implement interim and final remedial actions with respect to environmental

contamination, with the potential responsible party having certain rights to seek

contribution for those costs later from other potentially responsible parties. As

part of this Settlement, the Parties shall dismiss any claims they have currently

pending against other Parties to this Settlement Agreement and release each

other. In addition, with regard to claims for contribution against the SOA, CNP,

and/or FHRA, the Parties agree that the SOA, the CNP and FHRA are entitled to

protection from contribution actions or claims to the fullest extent provided by

or allowable under CERCLA Section 113(f)(2), 42 U.S.C. § 9613(f)(2), by Alaska

law, or by other applicable law, for matters addressed in this Agreement,

including but not limited to the Sulfolane Plume.

The Parties shall, however, continue to maintain and prosecute all claims against

Williams. SOA, CNP and FHRA agree to continue to commit and devote best

efforts to pursue their cases against Williams. FHRA shall assist and consult in

this effort as needed to ensure that all parties are satisfied with the prosecution

of the case against Williams as it proceeds. FHRA understands and agrees that

neither the SOA nor the CNP can guarantee litigation results and all parties

accept the uncertainties of litigation, including an adverse decision in favor of

Williams. Regardless of any other provision of this agreement no attorney-client

relationship is created between the parties by reason of this agreement and no

party may assert a claim against the other in any way related to how they

prosecute their case against WAPI/Williams. Further, SOA and CNP agree to

evaluate and issue, as appropriate, and in their complete discretion, any

regulatory orders to further the efforts to secure Williams’ responsibility,

including financial responsibility for costs, associated with the Sulfolane Plume,

including but not limited to, the Project Costs.



10

Whether by judicial determination or regulatory order, the Parties contemplate

Williams taking primary responsibility for the payment of all costs associated

with the Project, subject to rights of contribution, if any. In addition, to the

extent Williams is ordered to pay damages to SOA (whether in the form of

natural resource damages, civil assessments, or any other form of monetary

damages), such proceeds shall first be used to defray any and all costs of the

Project and second, reimburse FHRA and SOA for past costs relating to sulfolane

and the Interim Funding addressed above. Past costs are those types and

categories of costs that have been, and continue to be, incurred by FHRA and

SOA as have been described by each in the Lawsuits. The first recovery from

Williams of a sum equal to 40% of the then estimated total cost of the Project

shall be remitted to FHRA. Any recovery in excess of that amount shall be

distributed FHRA – 50% and SOA – 50% (subject to any adjustment after

discussion with CNP). After FHRA is reimbursed for its costs of the Project and

its past costs related to sulfolane, any recovery in excess of those amounts shall

be distributed 100% to SOA.

To the extent Williams is ordered to pay damages to CNP (whether in the form of

natural resource damages, penalties and fines, punitive damages or any other

form of monetary damages), such proceeds shall first be used to defray any and

all Project Costs. Thereafter, once all Project Costs have been defrayed or

reimbursed, the next Fifteen Million ($15,000,000) shall be divided equally

between the Parties to this Settlement Agreement. Thereafter, if the verdict in

favor of CNP and against Williams is in excess of the amounts referenced above

in this paragraph, then any remainder shall be split 55% to FHRA and 45% to the

CNP, after the CNP has been reimbursed for its out of pocket litigation expenses

incurred after August 18, 2016.

FHRA shall assume full and exclusive liability for any award of attorney’s fees and

costs that may be entered against CNP should it fail to prevail in its claims

against WAPI.

Prior to verdict in State of Alaska, Attorney General’s Office v Williams Alaska

Petroleum, Inc., et al and City of North Pole v Williams Alaska Petroleum, Inc., et

al, Case No. 4FA-14-01544 CI Consolidated, FHRA shall have the sole right, but

not the obligation, to instruct CNP and/or SOA to dismiss all claims against WAPI

and to exchange mutual releases with WAPI which shall be limited to sulfolane

related liabilities, in a form agreeable to FHRA. In the event this happens; then

either the Interim Allocation shall become a final allocation for the Project or a

different allocation shall be implemented which shall be no higher than the



11

Interim Allocation percentages provided in paragraph 5 a (ii) of this Settlement

Agreement for either FHRA or SOA; the referenced new allocation could include

an allocation percentage ascribed to Williams. Any new allocation, as referenced

in the prior sentence, shall be at the sole discretion of FHRA, but this discretion

may not be exercised in any way that would result in insufficient funds being

available to pay the Project Costs, up to the $100,000,000 cap.

Post verdict in State of Alaska, Attorney General’s Office v Williams Alaska

Petroleum, Inc., et al and City of North Pole v Williams Alaska Petroleum, Inc., et

al, Case No. 4FA-14-01544 CI Consolidated, FHRA shall have the sole right, but

not the obligation, in exchange for the payment of One Million ($1,000,000)

Dollars to instruct CNP to dismiss all claims against WAPI and exchange mutual

releases with WAPI which shall be limited to sulfolane related liabilities, in a

form agreeable to FHRA. In the event this happens; then either the Interim

Allocation shall become a final allocation for the Project or a different allocation

shall be implemented which shall be no higher than the Interim Allocation

percentages provided in paragraph 5 a (ii) of this Settlement Agreement for

either FHRA or SOA; the referenced new allocation could include an allocation

percentage ascribed to Williams, but not the CNP. Any new allocation, as

referenced in the prior sentence, shall be at the sole discretion of FHRA but this

discretion may not be exercised in any way that would result in insufficient funds

being available to pay the Project Costs, up to the 100,000,000 cap.

The Parties have a common interest with respect to the defense and prosecution

of claims by and against Williams and for this purpose and have agreed to a Joint

Interest/Joint Prosecution Agreement.

The Parties hereby mutually release, cancel, forgive, covenant not to sue and

forever discharge each other from all actions, claims, demands, damages,

obligations, liabilities, controversies and executions, of any kind or nature

whatsoever, whether known or unknown, whether suspected or not, which have

arisen, or may have arisen, or shall arise by reason of the issues and claims that

have been raised, or which could have been raised in the Lawsuits and do

specifically waive any claim or right to assert any cause of action or alleged cause

of action or claim or demand which has, through oversight or error intentionally

or unintentionally or through a mutual mistake, been omitted from this release.

This mutual release shall be effective on the date of execution of this Settlement

Agreement. Nothing in this Settlement Agreement is intended to limit: 1) the

Parties ability to enforce the terms and conditions of this Settlement Agreement

pursuant to paragraph 10 a below; 2) the SOA and FHRA from enforcing the



12

terms and conditions of the ROCP or 3) pursue and prosecute any rights, claims

and defenses in the Lawsuits, and/or regulatory actions against Williams.

7. Revision of On-Site Cleanup Plan.

On October 16, 2014 FHRA entered into an On-Site Clean Up Plan for the North

Pole Refinery which was approved by DEC (the “OCP”). The Project will provide

clean, sulfolane-free, water to properties currently impacted by the Sulfolane

Plume and properties that are expected to be impacted by the future movement

of the plume. The OCP described remediation requirements for the NPR that did

not account for the installation of a piped water system.

Included as Exhibit B to this Settlement Agreement is a Revised Onsite Cleanup

Plan (the ROCP) which includes (among other things) a discontinuation of the

groundwater pump and treat system, a point of compliance for COCs at the

refinery property boundary, and a revised on-site sulfolane performance

standard (400 ppb).

Included as Exhibit C to this Settlement Agreement is the Offsite Potable Water

Plan which includes the piped water system and groundwater monitoring.

The Potable Water Plan and the ROCP are incorporated into the Settlement

Agreement and shall be binding upon the Parties as of the Effective Date.

CNP has no objection to the Potable Water Plan or the ROCP.

8. SOA/DEC Oversight Costs.

FHRA will pay DEC’s future onsite related oversight costs to the extent Williams

does not reimburse DEC for such costs. SOA expressly waives any claim against

FHRA for past unpaid oversight costs invoiced prior to April 15, 2016. In the

event Williams does not pay DEC’s unpaid past oversight costs invoiced after

April 15, 2016, after the conclusion of, or settlement of, the Lawsuits, FHRA will

reimburse DEC for oversight costs invoiced between April 15, 2016, and the date

this settlement agreement is fully executed. SOA/DEC shall not claim or seek

from FHRA any future offsite sulfolane related oversight costs.

9. Project Assistance.

The Parties shall cooperate to make the Project as efficient and cost effective as

possible. Both SOA and CNP will take any and all reasonable steps to provide

effective and appropriate assistance to complete the Project, including but not

limited to ensuring proper permitting is obtained and rights of way are secured,



13

but this assistance clause shall not be utilized to shift legitimate Projects Costs to

the SOA or CNP without appropriate reimbursement. To the extent any

procurement requirements are triggered, the Parties shall coordinate to ensure

proper compliance.

10. General Provisions.

a. Dispute Resolution. All disputes between the Parties regarding this

Settlement Agreement shall be resolved by a single arbitrator pursuant to

the Expedited Procedures under the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the

American Arbitration Association; provided that the Parties agree that a

“reasoned award" shall not be required. Arbitration to take place in

Alaska and the laws of Alaska shall apply.

b. Confidentiality. All communication leading up to this Agreement are

confidential and arise in the context of confidential settlement

discussions.

c. Cooperation. The Parties shall cooperate with each other in the

implementation of this Settlement Agreement and shall execute any

other documents necessary to give full affect to this Settlement

Agreement.

d. Notifications. Unless otherwise specified, all notices or other

submissions relating to this Settlement Agreement shall be in writing and

sent by overnight courier service to the following representatives of the

Parties:

FHRA: President

Flint Hills Resources, LLC

4111 East 37th St. North

Wichita, KS 67220

With copy to:

General Counsel

Flint Hills Resources, LLC

4111 East 37th St. North

Wichita, KS 67220

SOA: Commissioner

Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation

410 Willoughby Ave. Ste. 303



14

Juneau, AK 99811-1800

With copy to:

Attorney General of the State of Alaska

Alaska Department of Law – Civil Division

1031 W. 4th Ave. Suite 200

Anchorage, AK 99501-1994

CNP: Mayor, City of North Pole Alaska

City Hall

125 Snowman Lane

North Pole, AK 99705

With copy to:

Zane Wilson

Cook Schuhmann & Groseclose

714 4th Ave #200

Fairbanks, AK 99701

e. No Admissions. The Parties make no admissions of fact, law, fault, liability

or allocation amongst each other.

f. Judicial Review and Approval. The Parties shall jointly and cooperatively

seek judicial review and approval of this Settlement Agreement, as

written (“Judicial Approval”).

g. Mergers/Integration. This Agreement is the entire Agreement of the

Parties regarding the subject matter hereof. All prior understandings,

representations and agreements are merged in this Agreement.

h. Amendment. This Agreement may be amended only by written

instrument executed by all the Parties.

i. Construction. As used herein, words in the singular include the plural, and

words in the plural include the singular. Descriptive headings are

employed for ease of reference only and are not substantive provisions

of this Agreement.

j. Execution. This Agreement is binding and enforceable between the

Parties upon the execution of any copy by each Party. The Parties need

not execute the same documents prior to any specific dates. All copies of

the Agreement shall constitute an original document. Execution of the

Agreement by facsimile shall be acceptable.









































































































































Memo 
To: City Council 

From: Danny Wallace 

Date: February 20, 2024 

Subject: Streetlight Survey and Analysis 

City Council: 

I recommend Council approval to contract with Respec, LLC to conduct a streetlight survey and 
analysis to assess selected areas for adding or improving street lighting.  Cost for this is 
$25,360.00 (submitted previously as part of our Public Works budget). 

This effort is dedicated to improving safe travel for both pedestrians and vehicles, especially at 
intersections and along routes to school.  This is in response to citizen testimony on concerns 
about children walking to school and to establish a fiscally constrained targeted plan for the City. 

The new streetlights in the City core area (currently installed, but awaiting parts for final 
activation) cost $1.6M (million).  Subsequent potential projects to put streetlights throughout the 
rest of the City are projected to be at least $2.3M.  See 
https://dot.alaska.gov/nreg/northpolelights/ for additional information. 

This scoping project intends to put additional streetlights at key locations along known routes to 
the schools and other areas in the City.  The intent is to establish a plan that complements 
current light installations and remains affordable for the City. 

Bottom line:  I recommend that the City Council approves spending $25,360.00 on this survey 
and analysis. 

Respectfully, 

Robert (Danny) Wallace 
Director of City Services 
North Pole, Alaska 

125 Snowman Lane 
North Pole, Alaska 99705 
(907) 488-8593 
(907) 488-3002 (fax) 
rwallace@northpolealaska.org 
 

City of North Pole 
Director of City Services 

https://dot.alaska.gov/nreg/northpolelights/


Public Works Budget Brief Excerpt (2024) 



respec.com 

 

STATEMENT OF SERVICES 

STREETLIGHT SURVEY FOR THE CITY OF NORTH POLE 

 

JANUARY 2024 



 

NP Street Light Survey Statement of Services 

1 

 

The City of North Pole (NP) has requested that RESPEC Company, LLC (ENGINEER) provide engineering 

services to assess selected areas for adding or improving street lighting to improve the safety of 

residents, especially at intersections and along routes to school.   

1.0 PROJECT SCOPE SUMMARY 
This Statement of Services details the scope to be provided by RESPEC Company, LLC (ENGINEER or 

RESPEC). 

1.1 DEFINITIONS 

/ ENGINEER – RESPEC Company, LLC 

/ OWNER – City of North Pole 

1.2 OVERALL SCOPE OF WORK  

We propose that this work be divided into two stages. The first stage would be fieldwork and 

determining which areas to focus on in the second stage. The second stage would be the assessment 

of those areas. Having two stages will allow for adaptability and prioritizing for cost-effectiveness. 

1. Identifying critical intersections/roads and assessing current lighting through these areas. 

Tasks would include: 

a. Interviewing City, Police, and School personnel to determine known problem areas.  

b. Desktop assessment of high-traffic areas, pedestrian school routes, and current street 

light infrastructure. Review AKDOT&PF plan for future lighting projects.  

c. Site visits to the area when it is dark to observe conditions at locations flagged during 

conversations and desktop assessment. Visiting the site during morning or evening rush 

hour/school pick up or drop off would be best. 

d. In coordination with the City of North Pole, identify locations for more in-depth assessment 

and examine types of improvements. We anticipate focusing on intersections near the 

schools and other areas of high vehicle and pedestrian traffic.   

e. Scope and fees for the second stage would be set after the first stage. The ones included 

here are for general guidelines. 

2. Recommendations and cost estimates for proposed improvements: 

a. Assess technical issues for each improvement (Power, ROW, impact on neighbors, light 

pollution).   

b. Provide a recommendation of project order based on cost and benefit. 

2.0 ENGINEERING REQUIREMENTS 
Upon this Agreement becoming effective, the ENGINEER shall perform the following tasks: 

2.1 DATA COLLECTION 

/ Meet with stakeholders to determine known problem locations. 



 

NP Street Light Survey Statement of Services 

2 

 

/ Conduct a desktop assessment of the road system and existing lighting infrastructure to 

determine locations of interest for field study.  

/ A progress meeting with OWNER will be held to discuss findings and plans for the field study.  

/ Conduct site visits during nighttime hours to observe traffic and lighting conditions. 

/ Coordinate with North Pole to determine areas to focus on.    

2.2 RECOMMENDATIONS 

/ Provide an assessment of technical issues with improvements at each location. 

/ Provide concept-level cost estimates for streetlighting at recommended locations.  

/ Provide a recommendation for improvement priority based on cost, benefit, and technical 

limitations.  

3.0 ASSUMPTIONS 

1. Meetings may be in person or virtual.  

2. It is assumed that eight intersections can be studied with the proposed budget.  

3. Usable record information is available and includes, but is not limited to, the make and model of 

existing streetlights and as-builts, tech data, and design analysis for the recent Alaska DOT 

project that installed streetlights in a portion of North Pole (“North Pole Street Lighting 

Standardization and Improvements”). 

4.0 OWNER RESPONSIBILITIES 

1. The OWNER shall arrange interviews with appropriate stakeholders (Police, Schools, 

Maintenance, etc.).  

2. The OWNER shall provide record information if available. 

5.0 SCHEDULE 
The schedule for the project is to be determined, pending coordination with the OWNER: 

1. The schedule of this project will be determined once NTP is provided.  

2. We anticipate fieldwork will be conducted during the current “dark” season. 

6.0 METHOD OF PAYMENT 
The Consultant will perform the services on a lump sum and time and expenses not-to-exceed basis 

(lump sum for stage 1, time and expenses not-to-exceed for stage 2) for $25,360. See attachment for 

additional information. 

 

 

END OF STATEMENT OF Services 



The prices quoted are valid and in effect for 90 days. After 90 days, prices are subject to change in accordance with RESPEC's commercial practices.

NP Streetlight Survey
01/31/24

SUMMARY

Civil Electrical ODCs Total

1 #201 - Data Collection $4,930.00 $2,890.00 $50.00 $7,870.00
2 #400 - Concept Design (15%) $9,520.00 $7,920.00 $50.00 $17,490.00

Subtotal $14,450.00 $10,810.00 $100.00 $25,360.00
Est Tax $0.00
Total $25,360.00

Phase

This document is proprietary and confidential. No part of this document may be disclosed in any manner 
to a third party without the prior written consent of RESPEC Company, LLC. 24y01m03d_INF Fee Proposal_Street Light



The prices quoted are valid and in effect for 90 days. After 90 days, prices are subject to change in accordance with RESPEC's commercial practices.

NP Streetlight Survey
01/31/24

Civil

Phase 1

#201 - Data Collection
Principal Civil 

Eng

Senior Civil 

Eng Civil EIT

Hourly 

Subtotal Cost

Billing Rate $250.00 $210.00 $125.00

0 $0.00

Stage 1 0 $0.00
Kickoff meeting 1 2 3 $460.00

Stakeholder Interviews 1 2 3 $460.00
Progress Meeting 1 2 3 $460.00

Existing Conditions Survey 0 $0.00

Desktop Determination of 
Critical Intersections for Review 1 6 7 $960.00

Site Visits 8 8 $1,000.00
Coordination Meeting to 
determine focus areas 2 2 4 $670.00

0 $0.00

0 $0.00
Draft Tech Memo 2 4 6 $920.00

0 $0.00
Hourly Subtotal 0 8 26 34
Cost $0.00 $1,680.00 $3,250.00 $4,930.00

Phase 2

#400 - Concept Design 

(15%)
Principal Civil 

Eng

Senior Civil 

Eng Civil EIT

Hourly 

Subtotal Cost

Billing Rate $250.00 $210.00 $125.00

Stage 2 0 $0.00
Assessment 0 $0.00

8 intersections 4 26 30 $4,090.00
0 $0.00

Estimate 0 $0.00
8 intersections 4 16 20 $2,840.00

0 $0.00
Tech Memo 3 10 13 $1,880.00
Tech Review 1 1 2 4 $710.00

0 $0.00
Hourly Subtotal 1 12 54 67
Cost $250.00 $2,520.00 $6,750.00 $9,520.00

Civil Hours 1 20 80 101
Civil Cost $250.00 $4,200.00 $10,000.00 $14,450.00

This document is proprietary and confidential. No part of this document may be disclosed in any manner 

to a third party without the prior written consent of RESPEC Company, LLC. 24y01m03d_INF Fee Proposal_Street Light



The prices quoted are valid and in effect for 90 days. After 90 days, prices are subject to change in accordance with RESPEC's commercial practices.

NP Streetlight Survey
01/31/24
Electrical

Phase

#201 - Data Collection
Senior Elec. 

Eng Lead Elec. Eng
Project Elec. 

Eng Tech Editor
Hourly 

Subtotal Cost

Billing Rate $205.00 $185.00 $170.00 $135.00

Task 0 $0.00
0 $0.00

Stage 1 0 $0.00
Kickoff meeting 1 1 $170.00

Progress meeting 2 2 $340.00
0 $0.00

Existing Conditions Survey 0 $0.00

Site Visits 12 12 $2,040.00
Coordination Meeting to 
determine focus areas 2 2 $340.00

0 $0.00
0 $0.00
0 $0.00
0 $0.00
0 $0.00
0 $0.00
0 $0.00
0 $0.00
0 $0.00
0 $0.00
0 $0.00
0 $0.00

Hourly Subtotal 0 0 17 0 17
Cost $0.00 $0.00 $2,890.00 $0.00 $2,890.00

Phase

#400 - Concept Design 

(15%)
Senior Elec. 

Eng Lead Elec. Eng
Project Elec. 

Eng Tech Editor
Hourly 

Subtotal Cost

Billing Rate $205.00 $185.00 $170.00 $135.00

Task 0 $0.00
Stage 2 0 $0.00
Assessment 0 $0.00
8 intersections 26 26 $4,420.00

0 $0.00
Estimate 0 $0.00
8 intersections 10 10 $1,700.00

0 $0.00
Tech Memo 7 3 10 $1,595.00
Tech Review 1 1 $205.00

0 $0.00
0 $0.00
0 $0.00
0 $0.00
0 $0.00
0 $0.00
0 $0.00
0 $0.00
0 $0.00
0 $0.00
0 $0.00

Hourly Subtotal 1 0 43 3 47
Cost $205.00 $0.00 $7,310.00 $405.00 $7,920.00

Electrical Hours 1 0 60 3 64
Electrical Cost $205.00 $0.00 $10,200.00 $405.00 $10,810.00

This document is proprietary and confidential. No part of this document may be disclosed in any manner 

to a third party without the prior written consent of RESPEC Company, LLC. 24y01m03d_INF Fee Proposal_Street Light



The prices quoted are valid and in effect for 90 days. After 90 days, prices are subject to change in accordance with RESPEC's commercial practices.

NP Streetlight Survey
1/31/2024

ODCs

Phase 1

#201 - Data Collection

Billing Rate Unit Unit Cost Civil Electrical Qty Cost

Copies/Prints/Scans (Letter) ea $0.20 0 $0.00
Copies/Prints/Scans (Full Size ea $1.00 0 $0.00
Teleconference Costing hr/line $3.00 0 $0.00
Airfare ea $500.00 0 $0.00
Rentals day $0.00 0 $0.00
Survey GPS Rental day $154.50 0 $0.00
LIDAR Scanner day $800.00 0 $0.00
Shipping ea $25.00 0 $0.00
Parking day $16.00 0 $0.00
Hotel day $0.00 0 $0.00
Mileage mile $0.625 40 40 80 $50.00
Per Diem man day $0.00 0 $0.00
Cost $25.00 $25.00 $50.00

Phase 2

#400 - Concept Design (15%)

Billing Rate Unit Unit Cost Civil Electrical Qty Cost

Copies/Prints/Scans (Letter) ea $0.20 0 $0.00
Copies/Prints/Scans (Full Size ea $1.00 0 $0.00
Teleconference Costing hr/line $3.00 0 $0.00
Airfare ea $500.00 0 $0.00
Rentals day $0.00 0 $0.00
Survey GPS Rental day $154.50 0 $0.00
LIDAR Scanner day $800.00 0 $0.00
Shipping ea $25.00 0 $0.00
Parking day $16.00 0 $0.00
Hotel day $0.00 0 $0.00
Mileage mile $0.625 40 40 80 $50.00
Per Diem man day $0.00 0 $0.00
Cost $25.00 $25.00 $50.00

This document is proprietary and confidential. No part of this document may be disclosed in any manner 
to a third party without the prior written consent of RESPEC Company, LLC. 24y01m03d_INF Fee Proposal_Street Light



1 

Memo 
To: 

From: 

Date: 

Subject: 

City Council 

Danny Wallace 

February 9, 2024

City Water Main Design Award 

City Council: 

The City received viable proposals for the water main engineering analysis and project. The first 
was from Respec, LLC and the other was from Stantec. The proposal was advertised from Dec 
20, 2023 - Jan 17, 2024 on our website and in the NewsMiner. The evaluation team included 
City Council and Staff representatives and reviewed two proposals on Jan 26, 2024. They used 
eight weighted evaluation criteria to include Project Services, Methods, Project Management, 
Project Staff, Professional Experience, Proximity/Affordability to Geographic Location, 
Estimated Fee Schedule, and Quality of Proposal. Both proposals were deemed suitable for this 
project and scores were very similar.  The scoring sheet, ad, and proposal documentation are 
attached. 

After reviews were complete, it was determined that Respec’s proposal fully conformed to the 
stated requirements (submitted in a sealed envelope with insurance information) while Stantec’s 
bid did not. Stantec’s bid was not sealed and did not include the insurance information as 
required in the proposal announcement. As a result, the second bid was rejected. 

We recommend awarding the planning and design contract to Respec. 

Respectfully, 

Robert (Danny) Wallace 
Director of City Services 
North Pole, Alaska 

125 Snowman Lane 
North Pole, Alaska 99705 
(907) 488-8593
(907) 488-3002 (fax)
rwallace@northpolealaska.org

City of North Pole 
Director of City Services 

mailto:bill@northpolealaska.com


2 

 

Scoring Sheet 
 
 

 
 
 
Newspaper Ad (NewsMiner) 
 
 

 
  



3 

 

Request for Proposals 
City of North Pole Water Main Replacement Design Project 

City of North Pole 
125 Snowman Lane 

North Pole, AK 99705 

Tel: 907-488-8593; Fax: 907-488-3002 

 

I. Downtown Water Main Replacement Design Project 

 

The purpose of this Request for Proposals (RFP) is to identify an engineering firm to assist the 

City of North Pole in the assessment and design to replace the current Downtown Water Main 

system.  

 

The City of North Pole's public water system provides the community with water utilities, 

including sanitation and safety services. The Downtown Loop area, which was developed in the 

1970s and early 1980s, consists of approximately eight miles of distribution water mains. 

However, most of these mains are over 50 years old and made of thin-gauge steel piping, which 

experience significant and constant leaks at the fittings and joints. The Downtown Loop water 

mains typically operate between 80 to 135 pounds per square gauge (psig), exceeding the 100-psig 

pressure rating of the system pipes and contributing to the leaking issue. This operating range does 

not include the increased range during the tourism season or the winter months when the pipes can 

freeze, causing further damage to the system and aging pipes.  The water main lines’ age and pipe 

makeup in the Downtown Loop raise serious concerns regarding pipe failure, which have dangerous 

consequences for the community. This location includes critical municipal infrastructure and lifelines, 

such as City Hall, the Police and Fire Departments, Public Works, three public schools, medical clinics, 

Senior Citizen Centers and Housing, and many residences. There is a significant community safety 

concern regarding the water main and fire hydrants. Currently, the fire hydrants in the Downtown Loop 

are installed in the main line and do not have isolation valves. If the main line were to have a failure, 

hydrants may be without water for use by the Fire Department. Additionally, without the means to 

isolate the hydrants, the equipment cannot be serviced without portions of the loop being offline, 

causing disruptions to customers, City Hall, and the elementary, middle, and high schools. As the 

population is expected to increase, the risk current system failure is an important issue for the City. 

Leaks and failures will result in infrastructure damage, emergency service disruptions, human health 

risks, safety issues, and will negatively impact economic development. 

 

II. Project Components and Scope 

 

The City is requesting proposals from engineering firms to conduct an engineering analysis and 

design project that will both pave the way for future construction and funding acquisition efforts.  

 

Task 1 – Schematic Design (35% Design)  Jan 31, 2024 – Sep 30, 2024 

Task 1 is to plan and design major details of the water main replacements, including updating 

construction cost estimates. The contracted engineering firm will carry out this task, including 

coordinating weekly meetings with North Pole leaders and City staff when necessary. This task also 



4 

 

includes survey work of the water mains and hydrants, which requires snowless conditions. 

Deliverables include the development of plan and profile (P&P) sheets, design drawings, and general 

notes. Coordination with ADEC for permit review will occur alongside contacting environmental 

technicians and geotechnical engineers on previous study information to verify impacts that may 

require additional permits or details. If required, public meetings will be facilitated to inform 

residents and businesses along the project corridor of upcoming activities. City staff will be in 

support roles for this task and managing grant drawdown requests.  

Task 2 – Pre-Final Construction Design (95% Design) Oct 1, 2024 – Jan 31, 2025 

Task 2 is to update all necessary documentation, including cover/index sheets, general notes, 

index, P&P sheets, and roadway sections that will be affected. Deliverables include Technical 

Specifications to supplement all design drawings that will be developed,  division 1 specifications 

to describe construction management and quality control requirements. The ADEC permit and 

construction application will be prepared for approval to construct. City staff will be in support 

roles for this task and managing grant drawdown requests. 

Task 3 – Generation of Construction Documents Jan 1, 2025 – Feb 28, 2025 

Task 3 is to finalize all documents to move the project from planning and design to construction. 

Deliverables include Technical Specifications, Division 1 Specifications, and the Construction 

Contract being finalized. All permits will be finalized or applied for, including coordinating with 

ADEC for approval to construct based on comments received during their review. The construction 

cost estimate will be updated and finalized. City staff will be in support roles for this task and 

managing grant drawdown requests and providing final approval on project deliverables to close out 

the tasks.  

  

Scope 

 

The City’s Downtown Water Main lies in an area bounded by St. Nicholas Drive (north and east 

edge), Eighth Ave (south edge), and Holiday Rd (west edge).  This project is separated into three 

phases as shown below (more detailed maps in Appendix 1) 

 



5 

 

 
 

Design quotes must include all three phases, listed per phase.  The quote format is listed on p. 9 

(Fee Schedule).   

  



6 

 

 

Proposal Narrative 
 

The proposal narrative should explain the firm’s qualifications to conduct the project, including 

key personnel who will be assigned to conduct the project; how the assessment will be 

conducted; and the proposed timeline to conduct the project. All components of the project shall 

be completed no later than February 28, 2025. The project deliverables shall be of sufficient 

detail to be used by the City to generate grant and loan applications for submission to state and 

federal funding agencies. Engineering and design plans shall be to the 100% completion level. 

Documents and electronic files submitted as part of the project shall become the property of the 

City and may be modified or amended by the City as necessary to meet the City’s needs. Text 

documents shall be submitted in Microsoft Word format compatible with the current program 

used in the City; engineering design documents shall be submitted in modifiable CAD format, a 

PDF file and a hard copy set printed on 11x17 inch paper or larger; and any pictures shall be 

submitted in jpg or equivalent format.  

 

 

III. Proposal Assessment Criteria 

 

Proposals will be evaluated based upon the following criteria at the relative weights indicated. 

 

1. Project Services ......................................................................................................................15 

 The firm states, in a concise manner, its interpretation and understanding of the project. 

Proposal demonstrates the firm’s comprehension of the objectives and services of the 

proposed project. The firm identifies what aspects of the project it believes will prove to be 

the most challenging and how such challenges will be overcome by the firm. 

 

2. Methods ...................................................................................................................................15 

The proposal outlines the methods for accomplishing the proposed project. The proposal 

describes what, when, where, how and in what sequence the work will be done and identifies 

the amount and type of work to be performed by any Subcontractors. The proposal explains 

how each task will be carried out, what services will be required from the City and plans for 

coordinating work with the City.  

 

3. Project Management ................................................................................................................5 

 The proposal describes the administrative and operational structures that will be used to 

perform the proposed work; for example, who has overall responsibility for the contract? 

What will the lines of authority be? Inclusion of a graphic depiction is preferred in the 

response to this criterion. The proposal discusses how the physical location of the firm’s 

offices with respect to the project site and the City’s offices affect the firm’s ability to 

provide services.  

 
4. Project Staff ............................................................................................................................15 



7 

 

The proposal names the key individuals who will perform the following functions, and other 

professional/technical functions deemed essential to the performance of the project. 

A. Project Manager: Single point of contact directly engaged in contract performance and 

compliance. 

B. Project Staff: The proposal describes the work to be performed by the individuals named 

in the proposal and details their specific qualifications and substantive experience directly 

related to the proposed project. 

 

5.   Professional Experience.........................................................................................................20 

The proposal identifies the period of time the firm has been performing work similar to that 

requested in the RFP and the proposal needs to demonstrate that the firm has previous 

experience designing water main systems in regions where the climate is similar to that in the 

City of North Pole.  The proposal must include descriptions of a minimum of three (3) prior 

projects that the firm conducted that were similar to the work requested in this RFP. The 

discussions shall include a summary of the work performed; identifies any of the Project Staff 

to be assigned to the North Pole project who participated in a prior project; and when and 

where the work was done. For each contract discussed, the proposal must provide the name of 

the contracting entity and a reference (contact person and a telephone number). More than 

three reference projects may be listed. Any project references beyond the minimum three 

required shall be listed in an appendix. The level of experience will be a factor in assessing a 

firm’s professional experience. 

 

6. Proximity/Affordability to Geographic Location .................................................................5 

The proposal identifies offices and staff responsible for the project and their proximity to the 

project site and City offices. The proposal documents what measures will be taken to reduce 

the engineering firm’s cost for visiting with city staff and required inspections. Proximity is a 

criterion related to familiarity and experience with local conditions that affect the conduct of 

the project.  

 

7.   Estimated Fee Schedule .........................................................................................................20 

Proposal provides a reasonable fee estimate in relation to the proposed project activities. The 

fee estimate contains a breakdown of project activities that at a minimum address: 

• Generation of engineering and design documents to the 100% completion level.  

• Generation of detailed cost estimates for the different components of the phased design 

schedule. 

• Other. List and describe any other services the firm proposes to provide. 

 

8. Quality of Proposal ..................................................................................................................5 

Submitters do not respond to this criterion. Review Committee members will rate this 

criterion based upon their evaluation of the clarity, completeness and presentation of the 

proposal. Note: This criterion is NOT used to evaluate color, graphics or other visual 

techniques except as they may detract from legibility. 

 



8 

 

IV. Bid Submission Documents 

 

The firm shall submit four complete copies of the proposal. 

 

Section 1: Proposal Narrative. The body of the proposal shall be labeled Proposal Narrative. 

The Proposal Narrative shall outline how the firm will address each of the project activities listed 

below. The proposal should address the firm’s unique qualifications to conduct the project. The 

Proposal Narrative shall use the subheadings listed below and shall be single-spaced, printed on 

single-sided pages using a font size no smaller than 12 point.  

 

• Project Services 

• Methods 

• Project Management 

• Project Staff 

• Professional Experience 

• Geographic Location of Firm 

• Other (not required) 

• Appendix. The Appendix is for the inclusion of Other Submissions and for supplemental 

information not contained in the body of the proposal like additional project references 

and project staff resumes. (See Section 4 below.) 

 

Section 2: Proposal Submittals. The proposal submission shall include all the Required 

Submittals that include the items listed below. Supplemental Submittals will be required from 

the winning contractor within ten (10) days of receipt of Notice-of-Intent to Award. 

 

Required Submittals 

• Contactor Information Form (includes acknowledgment of any Addenda issued)--

Required with proposal 

• Fee Schedule--Required with proposal  

• Alaska Business License--Required with proposal 

 

Supplemental Submittals 

• Certificate of Insurance—Required with proposal (See Insurance Requirements 

below.) 

 

Insurance requirements: Certificate of Insurance 

 

Contractor must furnish a certificate of insurance within the (10) days of receipt of the Notice-of-

Intent to Award and must provide for a thirty (30) day prior notice of cancellation, non-renewal 

or material change of the policies. Failure to furnish satisfactory evidence of insurance or lapse 

of policy shall disqualify any submittal.  All policies shall be endorsed with a waiver of 

subrogation in favor of the Owner. All other insurance policies required of the Contractor by this 



9 

 

agreement shall be endorsed to provide that such insurance shall apply as primary insurance and 

that any insurance or self-insured carried by the Owner will be excess only and will not 

contribute with the insurance required by this agreement. All other insurance policies required of 

the Contractor and subcontractors by this Agreement shall be endorsed to name the Owner as 

additional insured. All insurance shall be on an occurrence from acceptable to the Owner.  

 

1. Workers’ Compensation and Employers’ Liability Insurance as required by any applicable 

law or regulation. Employers’ liability insurance shall be in the amount no less than $500,000 

each accident for bodily injury, $500,000 policy limit for bodily injury by disease and 

$500,000 each employee for bodily injury by disease. The Contractor shall be responsible for 

Workers’ Compensation Insurance for any subcontractor who directly or indirectly provides 

services under this contract. This coverage must include statutory coverage for states in 

which employees are engaging work. If there is an exposure of injury to Contractor’s 

employees under the U.S. Longshoremen’s Harbor Workers’ Compensation Act, the Jones 

Act, or under laws, regulations or statutes applicable to maritime employee, coverage shall be 

included for such injuries or claims.  

 

2. Commercial General Liability Insurance: The Contractor is required to provide Commercial 

General Liability (CGL) insurance with limits not less than $1,000,000 combined single limit 

per occurrence and $2,000,000 in the aggregate not excluding premises operations, 

independent contractors, products, and completed operations, broad form property damage, 

blanket contractual, explosion, collapse and underground hazards. Limits may be a 

combination of primary and excess (umbrella) policy forms.  

 

3. Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance: Covering all owned, hired and non-owned 

vehicles with coverage limits not less than $1,000,000 single limit per occurrence bodily 

injury and property damage.  

 

4. Property Insurance: The Contractor shall submit to the Owner evidence of All Risk Builder’s 

Risk Insurance for all physical loss, including earthquake and flood (100% completed value 

basis) upon the entire work naming the Owner, the Contractor and the subcontractors as 

additional insured parties and as their interests may appear to the full contract sum thereof, 

until the project is completed by the Contractor and accepted by the Owner. The policy, by 

endorsement, shall specifically permit partial or beneficial occupancy at or prior to 

substantial completion or final acceptance of the entire work.  

 

A. PROOF OF INSURANCE: The Contractor shall furnish the Owner with a Certificate of 

Insurance or where requested by the Owner, the policy declaration page with required 

endorsements attached thereto showing the type, amount, effective dates and dates of 

expiration of all policies. All endorsements shall reference policy number and the project 

name and project number.   

 



10 

 

B. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contractor shall, upon demand,  defend, 

indemnify and hold harmless the Owner occurs, and employees from and against any and 

all loss, expense, damage, claim, demand, judgment, fine, charge, lien, liability, action, 

cause of action, or proceedings of any kind whatsoever (whether arising on account of 

damage to or loss of property, or personal injury, emotional distress or death) arising 

directly or indirectly in connection with the performance or activities of the Contractor 

hereunder, whether the same arises before or after completion of the contractor’s 

operations or expiration of this Agreement, except for damage, loss or injury resulting 

from the Owner’s gross negligence or willful misconduct.  

 

C. Without limiting its indemnification, the Contractor shall maintain, until acceptance of 

the project by the Owner, occurrence type coverage of the kinds and minimum amounts 

set forth herein All insurance limits are minimum. If the Contractor’s policy contains 

higher limits, the Owner shall be entitled to coverage to the extent of such higher limits. 

The Owner, at its sole discretion, may rise or lower the limit.  

 

V. Proposal Submission 

 

Proposals are due to the City of North Pole by 2:00 PM, January 17 (Wed), 2024. It is the sole 

responsibility of the proposal submitter to see that his/her proposal is submitted on time. The 

outside of the envelope shall clearly identify the proposal as City of North Pole Water Main 

Replacement Design Project.. Any proposal received after the due date will not be considered 

and will be held unopened. No responsibility will be attached to any officer or City employee for 

the premature opening of or failure to open a proposal not properly addressed and identified. 

Telegraphic or electronic proposals will not be accepted. Proposals should be addressed to:  

 

City of North Pole 

City Clerk 

125 Snowman Lane 

North Pole, AK 99708 

 

The City of North Pole reserves the right to reject any or all proposals, to waive any informalities 

in the procedures, or to cancel the solicitation if it is in the best interest of the City. The City of 

North Pole shall have the right to reject any proposals from a submitter determined by the City at 

its discretion, to not be responsible or not qualified to perform the proposal specifications. A 

determination that a proposal submitter is not responsible may be made solely on the basis of 

previous failure to perform properly or to complete contracts.  

 

VI. Questions/Interpretations 

 

Any questions or requests for clarification must be submitted in writing. Written requests for 

interpretation or correction of any ambiguity, inconsistency, discrepancy, omission, or error in 

the RFP shall be directed to Danny Wallace, Director of City Services at 



11 

 

rwallace@northpolealaska.org or 907-488-8593. The deadline for submission of questions is by 

January 12. 2024, Alaska Standard Time. Any interpretations or corrections will be issued in an 

addendum. Only written interpretations issued by the City of North Pole shall be binding. No 

other interpretations or corrections shall be considered valid for the preparation of a proposal. 

 

  



12 

 

Contractor Information Form 
City of North Pole Water Main Replacement Design Project 

City of North Pole 
125 Snowman Lane 

North Pole, AK 99705 

Tel: 907-488-2281; Fax: 907-488-3002 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Firm’s name  Authorized signature 

 

 

 

  

Address  Name/title authorized individual (print) 

 

 

 

  

Address 2 

 

 

 

 Telephone 

City, State, ZIP 

 

 Fax 

 

 

 

Addenda 
 

Submitter has received and examined the Addenda listed below, receipt of which is hereby 

acknowledged by listing the Addendum Number and Addendum Date.  

 

Addendum Number Addendum Date 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



13 

 

 

  



14 

 

 

Fee Schedule 
City of North Pole Water Main Replacement Design Project 

City of North Pole 
125 Snowman Lane 

North Pole, AK 99705 

Tel: 907-488-2281; Fax: 907-488-3002 

 

Price Proposal 
 

Service Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3 

Generation of 

Preliminary 

Environmental 

Report 

 

  

Generation of 

Engineering Report 

(35%) 

 

  

Generation of 

engineering and 

design documents to 

the 100% completion 

level 

 

  

Generation of a 

recommended phased 

construction schedule 

 

  

Generation of 

detailed cost 

estimates for the 

different components 

of the phased 

construction schedule 

 

  

Other  
  

Total Cost  
  

 

Note: The City, at its sole discretion, may choose to fund one or more Phases (rather than all 

Phases) 

  



15 

 

 

Attachment 1 – Existing Downtown Loop 
 

 



16 

 

  

W14 



17 

 

 

W17 

W16 



18 

 

 
  



19 

 

 

W18 



20 

 

  
 

W19 


	Agenda - February 20, 2024
	Minutes - January 16, 2024
	Communications from the Mayor
	Proclamation - Kiera O'Connor
	Proclamation - Black History Month 

	New Business
	Ordinance 2024-02
	Resolution 2024-03
	Resolution 2024-04
	Request to Council 
	2024.02.20 - Letter to Council - Streetlight Survey and Analysis.pdf
	24y02m07d_NP Street Light Survey_statement of services.pdf
	24y01m03d_INF Fee Proposal_Street Light.pdf

	Reccomendation to Council 




